Special purpose consolidated financial statements for the years ended march 31, 2023 and 2022 and independent auditors' report

Contents:

Independent Auditors' Report Statements of Financial Position Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) by Function Statements of Changes in Net Equity Statements of Cash Flows – Indirect Method Notes to Financial Statements



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Shareholders of JSW Panama Holdings Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of JSW Panama Holdings Corporation and subsidiaries (the "Company"), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as of March 31, 2023, and the related consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, changes in net deficit, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Management's responsibility for the consolidated financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by Panama; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Company's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes assessing the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Company's s management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

C y P Auditores SpA sociedad por acciones chilena y firma asociada a Integra (International) Limited • 1st Floor, Sackville House, 143-149 Fenchurch Street London, EC3M 6BN • United Kingdom • www.integra-international.net



We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Audit Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of JSW Panama Holdings Corporation and Subsidiaries as of March 31, 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by Panama.

Restriction on use and distribution

This report has been issued solely for the internal use and knowledge of JSW Panama Holdings Corporation and Subsidiaries Management, partners and financial institutions. It should not be distributed to any other third party.

Other matters, report of other auditors on the financial statements as of March, 2022.

The financial statements of JSW Panama Holdings Corporation and Subsidiaries for the year ended March 31, 2022 were audited by other auditors, who expressed an unqualified opinion in their report dated April 29, 2022.

CYP Auditores & Integra-International

April 12, 2023 Santiago, Chile

June E

Juan E. González S. Rut: 10.758.365-3

C y P Auditores SpA sociedad por acciones chilena y firma asociada a Integra (International) Limited • 1st Floor, Sackville House, 143-149 Fenchurch Street London, EC3M 6BN • United Kingdom • www.integra-international.net

www.cypauditores.cl San Sebastián 2839 oficina 601. Las Condos, Santiago Chile Teléfono: +56 22948 45 79

CONSOLIDATE STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS OF MARCH 31, 2023 AND 2022 (In US dollars - US\$)

ASSETS	Note No.	2023 US\$	2022 US\$
NON - CURRENT ASSETS:	-		
Property, plant and equipment, net	7 15	- 2,018,898	- 1,950,402
Account receivable from related company Intangible Assets, net	13 8	2,018,898	1,930,402
Total non-current assets	8 9	-	25,400
Total non-current assets	2	2,018,898	1,975,802
CURRENT ASSETS:			
Cash and cash equivalents	17	43,112	52,485
Other non-financial assets	10	-	1,069,774
Total current assets		43,112	1,122,259
TOTAL ASSETS		2,062,010	3,098,061
NET DEFICIT AND LIABILITIES			
NET EQUITY			
Paid-in capital	14	100,000	100,000
Other reserves		57,288	57,288
Accumulated losses		(169,554,486)	(144,052,416)
Deficit attributable to owners of the Company		(169,397,198)	(143,895,128)
Non-controlling interest	11	(9,456,476)	(28,521,572)
Total net deficit		(178,853,674)	(172,416,700)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:			
Account payable to related company	15	180,902,226	174,061,691
Deferred taxed	18	-	-
Provisions, non-current	13		1,440,215
Total non-current liabilities		180,902,226	175,501,906
CURRENT LIABILITIES:			
Trade and other payables	12	13,458	12,343
Provisions, current	13		512
Total current liabilities		13,458	12,855
TOTAL NET DEFICIT AND LIABILITIES		2,062,010	3,098,061

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS AS OF MARCH 31,2023 AND 2022 (In US dollars- US\$)

OPERATING COST	Notes N°	2023 US\$	2022 US\$
GROSS LOSS			
Administration expenses	4	(81,122)	(155,243)
NEGATIVE OPERATING MARGIN		(81,122)	(155,243)
Financial income		68,497	60,129
Financial expenses	6	(7,156,688)	(6,098,628)
Other expenses	5	(19,924,550)	(467,627)
Exhange difference, net		(55,473)	25,873
TOTAL NON-OPERATING EXPENSE		(27,068,214)	(6,480,253)
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX		(27,149,336)	(6,635,496)
Benefit Income tax	18		72,898
LOSS		(27,149,336)	(6,562,598)
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS LOSS		(27,149,336)	(6,562,598)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS		(27,149,336)	(6,562,598)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO:			
Owners of the Company		(25,502,070)	(5,530,954)
Non-controlling interests	11	(1,647,266)	(1,031,944)
Total		(27,149,336)	(6,562,898)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN NET DEFICIT FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 2023 AND 2022 (Expressed in US dollars – US\$)

	Paid-in capital US\$	Other reserves US\$	Accumulated losses US\$	Attributable to Owners of the Company US\$	Non- controlling interest US\$	Total US\$
Balances at April 1, 2021 Net loss for the financial year	100,000	57,288	(138,521,462) (5,530,954)	(138,364,174) (5,530,954)	(27,489,628) (1,031,944)	(165,853,802) (6,562,898)
Balances at March 31, 2022	100,000	57,288	(144,052,416)	(143,895,128)	(28,521,572)	(172,416,700)
Other equity variations (refer note 5)	-	-	-	-	20,712,382	20,712,382
Net loss for the financial year			(25,502,070)	(25,502,070)	(1,647,266)	(27,149,336)
Balances at March 31, 2023	100,000	57,288	(169,554,486)	(169,397,198)	(9,456,456)	(178,853,654)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 2023 AND 2022 (Expressed in US dollars - US\$)

	2023 US\$	2022 US\$
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:		
Loss	(27,149,336)	(6,562,898)
Loss Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used operating activities:		
Exchange difference	91,664	(25,873)
Loss on account of loss of control of subsidiary	19,839,643	302,911
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:		
Accounts receivable from related parties	(68,496)	(60,129)
Trade and other accounts payables	(53,343)	10,208
Accounts payable to related parties	7,155,295	6,098,628
Net casg flow used in operating activities	(184,573)	(237,153)
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:		
Loan received form related company	175,200	234,500
NET VARIATION OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS	(9,373)	(2,653)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR	52,485	55,138
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR	43,112	52,485

INDEX

CONTENTS

1.	GENERAL INFORMATION	1
2.	BASES OF PRESENTATION	1
 2.1. 2.2. 2.3. 2.4. 	Accounting principles Adoption of new accounting standards Responsibility for the information and estimates Summary of significant accounting policies	1 2 3 3
3.	CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS	7
4.	ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES	9
5.	OTHER EXPENSES	9
6.	FINANCIAL EXPENSE	9
7.	PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT	10
8.	INTANGIBLE ASSETS	10
9.	OTHER NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS	11
10.	OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS	11
11.	NON-CONTROLLING INTERES	11
12.	TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES	11
13.	PROVISIONS	12
14.	PAID-IN CAPITAL	12
15.	BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED COMPANIES	12
16.	FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS	14
17.	CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS	16
18.	INCOME AND DEFERRED TAX	16
19.	COMMITENTS AND CONTINGENCIES	17
20.	SUBSEQUENT EVENTS	17

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FORTHE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 2023 and 2022 (In US dollars - US\$)

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

JSW Panama Holdings Corporation (100% wholly owned subsidiary of JSW Steel (Netherlands) B.V.), hereafter "JSWPHC" or "the Company", was incorporated pursuant to the laws of the Republic of Panama in September 2007 under the name "Eroush Corporation". On March 4, 2008, the Company changed its corporate name from Eroush Corporation to JSW Panama Holdings Corporation. The main activities of the Company are investments in all types of entities and commerce of products and raw materials.

The Company holds 94.9% of Inversiones Eroush Limitada ("Inversiones Eroush"), an entity incorporated in Chile. The principal business of Inversiones Eroush is investment in mining assets. Inversiones Eroush, in turn, held 70% of Santa Fe Mining S.A. ("Santa Fe Mining"), a contractual mining company incorporated under the laws of Chile. Santa Fe Mining is the main operating arm of the Group and commenced commercial production in March 2011. Santa Fe Mining holds 99.9% of Santa Fe Puerto S.A. ("Santa Fe Puerto"), a company incorporated in Chile. The main activity of Santa Fe Puerto is the set-up of ports.

The Company owns and/or leases the rights to five mining projects through its subsidiaries Inversiones Eroush and Santa Fe Mining. These projects include Bellavista, Rebote, Viñita, Daniel and Catalina. The Bellavista project, which is a leased project by Santa Fe Mining, is currently the only project which became operational. The lease agreement was terminated during 2021. This Rebote is an adjoining property to Bellavista and is also a leased project. The Viñita project is owned by Santa Fe Mining and is in the predevelopment stage. The remaining two projects, Daniel and Catalina, are held by Inversiones Eroush and were initially purchased for a total amount of US\$52 million which was financed by bank loans and later repaid out of loans from JSW Steel Limited, the ultimate parent company.

During fiscal year 2016, the subsidiary Inversiones Erouch decided not to continue with the development of its Daniel and Catalina mining assets in view of the falling international iron ore prices. In addition, the Company has a 70% interest share in the subsidiary Santa FE Mining ("SFM"). SFM in earlier years approved a temporary suspension of all its mining operations until the iron price reaches a level to allow it carrying out a profitable and sustainable operation. During 2020 SFM terminated the lease at Bellavista due to the uncertainty in restarting the Iron ore mining operations at Chile following the outbreak of COVID 19 causing significant disturbances and slow down of economic activities. During the year, IEL sold its 70% stake in SFM (see note 5). The Company continues to be supported by the Group. Based on these circumstances the financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis.

2. BASES OF PRESENTATION

2.1. Accounting principles - These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") and the interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee ("IFRIC") adopted by Panama.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

2.2. Adoption of new accounting standards

i. The following new Standards and Interpretations have been adopted in these financial statements:

Amendments to Standards	Effective date
Reference to the Conceptual Framework (amendments to IFRS	Annual periods beginning on or after
3).	January 1, 2022.
Property, Plant and Equipment – Income before Intended Use	Annual periods beginning on or after
(amendments to IAS 16).	January 1, 2022.
Onerous Contracts – Costs to Fulfill a Contract (amendments to	Annual periods beginning on or after
IAS 37).	January 1, 2022.
Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards, 2018-2020 cycle	Annual periods beginning on or after
(amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41).	January 1, 2022.

The application of these amendments has not had a significant effect on the amounts reported in these financial statements of Society, however, they could affect the accounting of future transactions or agreements.

ii. The following new Standards and Interpretations have been issued but their application date is not yet in effect:

New IFRS	Effective date
IFRS 17, Insurance Contracts	Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023.
Amendments to Standards	Effective date
Amends IFRS 17 to address concerns and implementation challenges that were identified after the publication of IFRS 17 insurance contracts in 2017	Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023
Deferred Tax on Assets and Liabilities derived from a Single Operation (Amendments to IAS 12)	Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023
Classification of liabilities as Current or Non-Current (amendments to IAS 1).	Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023
Disclosure of Accounting Policies (amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS - Practical Statement 2)	Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023.
Definition of Accounting Estimates (amendments to IAS 8)	Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023.
Lease liability in a sale and leaseback (amendments to IFRS 16)	Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024
Non-current liabilities with covenants (Amendments to IAS 1)	Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024

The Company's Management anticipates that the future application of IFRS17 will not have a significant impact on its financial statements, since the Company does not issue insurance contracts. The Company's Management anticipates that the application of the amendments could have an impact on the Company's financial statements in future periods, to the extent that such transactions originate.

2.3. **Responsibility for the information and estimates** – The Management of the Group is responsible for the information contained in these consolidated financial statements. These consolidated financial statements have occasionally used estimates made by the Senior Management of the Group to quantify some of the assets, liabilities, income, expenses and commitments recorded therein. On April 12 2023, the Senior Management approved these consolidated financial statements.

These estimates are explained in greater detail in Note 3 and involve the following:

- Impairment of assets
- Useful economic life of assets
- Provisions for litigation and other contingencies
- Calculation of deferred tax liabilities and assets
- Mineral reserves

Regardless of the fact that these estimates were made with the best information available at the time, they may possibly need to be revised in future years as a result of future events.

Such changes would be done prospectively, as stipulated in IAS 8.

2.4. Summary of significant accounting policies

- a. **Statement of compliance** These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (hereinafter "IASB") adopted in Panama.
- b. **Basis of consolidation** The consolidated financial statements incorporates the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries which are controlled by the Company. Where the Company has the power, either directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of another entity or business so as to obtain benefits from its activities, it is classified as a subsidiary. The consolidated financial statements present the results of the Company and its subsidiaries as if they formed a single entity.

The consolidated financial statements include the assets, liabilities, equity and operating accounts of JSW Panama Holdings Corporation and its subsidiaries. These financial statements have been consolidated considering that the companies operate under a joint management. All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses have been eliminated on consolidation.

The detail of subsidiaries at March 31, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary or sub-subsidiary	Place of incorporation and operation	Propor direct or ownershi	indirect	Propor voting he		Principal activity
		2023	2022	2023	2022	
Inversiones Eroush Limitada Santa Fe Mining Santa Fe Puerto S.A.	Chile Chile Chile	94,90% 0% 0%	94,90% 70,00% 99,90%		94,90% 70,00% 99,90%	Investment in mining assets Contratual mining company Setting up of ports

- c. **Functional currency** The functional currency of the Company will be determined as the currency of the main economic environment in which it operates. Transactions other than those performed in the entity's functional currency will be converted at the exchange rate in effect on the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the functional one will be converted again at the year ended exchange rates. Gains or losses from the reconversion will be included in net income or losses for the year within the line item Exchange differences, net in the consolidated statement of income. The functional and presentation currency of the Company is the US dollar.
- d. **Foreign currencies** Transactions in a currency other than a Company's functional one are considered to be "foreign currency" transactions and they are recorded in their functional currency at the exchange rate in effect on the date of the operation. At each year end, the statement of financial position amounts of monetary items in a foreign currency are valued at the year-end exchange rate and the exchange rate differences arising from such valuation are recorded in the profit or loss of the period.
- e. **Borrowing costs** Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

f. **Taxation** - Current tax is measured at the amount expected to be paid/recovered from the revenue authorities, using the applicable tax rates and laws.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on temporary differences (i.e. differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax basis used in the computation of taxable profit). Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method and is provided on all temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that they will be recovered through sufficient future taxable profit. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to be applied in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realized. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also taken directly to equity.

g. **Property, plant and equipment** - Property, plant and equipment are stated at their cost of acquisition (net of VAT) or construction. Cost comprises of all costs incurred to bring the assets to their location and working condition up to the date the assets are ready to use. Besides, the costs related directly to the construction of an asset, indirect expenses incurred up to the date of commencement of commercial production which are incidental and related to construction are capitalized as part of the construction cost.

In respect of mining projects, the values at which the assets are stated include accumulated costs corresponding to exploring, drilling and various studies performed in the Bellavista and Viñita areas. Additional amounts include the amounts contributed by Minera Santa Fe SCM, the non-controlling interest in Santa Fe Mining, related to the concessions contract on the lease agreement of Bellavista, Rebote and Viñita, environmental studies and support services relating to Bellavista and Viñita.

Leased assets are stated at the present value of the future lease payments at the time of origination. These assets relate to the leased assets for the plant used in the operations of the Bellavista project.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over its remaining useful life, or life of the operation, if shorter, until its residual value. The major categories of property, plant and equipment are depreciated as follows:

- Mining projects Mining projects are depreciated over the life of the mine from the beginning of commercial production using the units of production method. The Bellavista project began commercial operation in March 2011 and it is not currently being depreciated given the temporary shutdown. The remaining projects are not currently being depreciated as commercial operation has not yet begun or has been provided for.
- Plant and equipment Plant and equipment are depreciated over their useful life using the straight-line method of depreciation. The useful life of these assets is between 3 and 9 years.
- Vehicles Vehicles are depreciated over their useful life using the straight-line method of depreciation. The useful life of these assets is 5 years.
- Other assets Other assets are depreciated over their useful life using the straight- line method of depreciation. The useful life of these assets is 3 years.
- Leased assets Leased assets are depreciated over the term of the lease agreement using the straight-line method of depreciation. The leased assets are depreciated over 5 years.
- Construction in progress Construction in progress is not depreciated until it becomes operational and is reclassified to Plant and equipment.

The residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at least annually, and changes in residual values and useful lives are accounted for prospectively. As of March 31, 2023 and 2022 all of the property, plant and equipment assets have been fully written off.

h. **Mining project and preoperational expenses** - Mining project including capitalized financing costs, are depreciated on a unit of production basis, in proportion to the volume of ore extracted in the year compared with total proven and probable reserves at the beginning of the year. As of March 31, 2023 and 2022 all of the mining projects and preoperational expenses have been fully written off.

- i. **Exploration costs** The Group's mining arm, namely Santa Fe Mining, started commercial production in March 2011. Until the commencement of commercial production, all expenses incurred, including financial costs, were capitalized. These were amortized over the life of the mining assets (until the temporary shutdown). As of March 31, 2023 and 2022 all of the exploration cost and preoperational expenses have been fully writen off.
- j. **Intangible assets** Intangible assets acquired separately are reported at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. For intangible assets with finite useful lives, amortization is charged on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortization method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, with the effect of any changes in the estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite lives are not depreciated and are tested annually for impairment as discussed below. As of March 31, 2023 and 2022 all of the intangible assets have been fully writen off.
- k. **Impairment of tangible and intangible assets** At each balance sheet date, the assets are tested annually for impairment. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company estimates their recoverable amount from the cash generating units. As of March 31, 2023 and 2022 all of the tangible and intangible assets have been fully writen off.
- 1. **Provisions** Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable the Group will be required to settle the obligation. The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the statement of financial position date.
- m. **Trade and other receivables** Trade and other receivables do not generally carry any interest and are normally stated at their nominal value less any impairment. Impairment losses on trade receivables are recognized within an allowance account unless the Company considers that no recovery of the amount is possible, in which case the carrying value of the asset is reduced directly.
- n. **Trade and other payables** Trade and other payables generally do not bear interest and are normally stated at their nominal value.

Financial assets and liabilities - The financial assets and liabilities are recognized in the Statement of financial position of the Group on the following basis:

- Accounts receivable The accounts receivable are booked at its nominal value and reduced for appropriated provisions for the estimated non-recoverable amounts, based on a review of all outstanding amounts at the end of the year. Baddebts are written-off when identified.
- Accounts payable The accounts payable are presented at its nominal value.
- Loans and debts All the loans and debts are initially recognized at cost, which is the reasonably value of the service received, including the associated transaction costs of the loan.

o. **Cash and cash equivalents** - The Group considers liquid financial assets, which may be easily converted into cash within no more than three months and where the risk of a change in their value is insignificant, to be cash equivalents.

Operating activities: these are the activities that constitute the main source of ordinary income of the Group, as well as other activities that cannot be classified as investment or financing activities.

Investment activities: these correspond to activities of acquisition, sale or disposal through other methods of long-term assets and other investments not included in cash and cash equivalents.

Financing activities: these are the activities that cause variations in the composition of the net equity, and of the financial liabilities.

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires accounting estimates, judgments and assumptions to be made regarding the values at which various assets and liabilities are reflected in the consolidated financial statements and on the reported revenues and expenses during the reporting period. These accounting estimates and judgments are based on historical experience, industry trends and other factors considered relevant and/or significant.

Actual results could differ from these accounting estimates and differences between actual results, due to impairment, if any, in the estimation of liabilities are recognized in the periods in which the results are known or materialize.

As specified in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, management necessarily makes judgments and estimates that have a significant effect on the figures presented in the consolidated financial statements. Changes in assumptions and accounting estimates may have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements. The details of the most critical accounting estimates and judgments made are as follows:

- a. **Impairment of assets** The Group reviews the book value of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that such assets have been impaired. In the impairment assessment, assets that fail to generate an independent cash flow are grouped together in an appropriate cash-generating unit. The recoverable amount of these assets or cash-generating unit is measured as the higher of its fair value (discounted future cash flow method) and its book value. Management necessarily applies judgments in grouping together the assets that fail to generate independent cash flows and also in the estimates, timing and values of the calculation's underlying cash flows.
- b. **Useful economic life of assets** Tangible assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the life of the assets. Management reviews the bases used for calculating the life of assets on an annual basis; however, any change could potentially affect the depreciation rates and book values of the assets going forward.

- c. **Provisions for litigation and other contingencies** The final cost for claims, lawsuits could and closure cost provision vary due to estimates based on different interpretations of the regulations, opinions and final evaluations of the amount of the damages. Therefore, any change in the circumstances involved in this contingency could have a significant effect on the amount of the contingency provision recorded.
- d. **Calculation of taxes on deferred tax liabilities and assets** Proper valuation of the taxes on deferred tax liabilities and assets depends on several factors, including the realization of deferred tax and the timeliness of the tax payments. Current charges and payments could differ materially from such estimates due to changes in tax regulations and unforeseen future transactions having an impact on the Group's tax balance sheets.
- e. **Mineral reserves** Mineral reserves are estimates of the amount of iron ore that can be economically exploitable and legally extracted from the Group's mining properties. These reflect the Group's technical considerations of the resources that may be exploited and sold at prices exceeding the total extraction and processing cost. Changes in the reserves or resource estimates may impact upon the carrying value of exploration and evaluation assets, mining tenements, property plant and equipment, provisions for rehabilitation, recognition of deferred taxes, and depreciation and amortization charges.

4. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

At March 31, 2023 and 2022, the detail of administrative expenses is the following:

	2023 US\$	2022 US\$
Staff costs	(3.224)	(147.449)
Administrative expenses	(77.898)	(7.793)
Total Administrative expenses	(81.122)	(155.242)

5. OTHER EXPENSES

At March 31, 2023 and 2022, the detail of other expenses is as follows:

	2023	2022
	US\$	US\$
Loss on account of loss of control of subsidiary (refer note below)	(19,839,643)	-
Other expenses	(84,907)	(467,627)
Total	(19,924,550)	(467,627)

Net loss pursuant to sale of entire 70% stake in SFM by IEL primarily due to de-recognition of noncontrolling interests, other assets and liabilities carried in the consolidated financial statement as on the date of disposal.

6. FINANCIAL EXPENSE

At March 31, 2023 and 2022, the detail of financial costs, is as follows:

	2023 US\$	2022 US\$
Interest on related party loans	(7,155,295)	(6,019,617)
Others	(1,393)	(79,011)
Total	(7,156,688)	(6,098,628)

Interest expense to related parties relates mainly to loans outstanding with JSW Steel Limited, the ultimate parent of the Company as described in Note 15.

7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The composition and activity related to property, plant and equipment and accumulated depreciation as of and for the year ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, is as follows:

March 31, 2023	01 0	Plant and equipment	Vehicles	Other assets	Leased assets	Construction in progress	Total
-	US\$	US\$	US\$	US\$	US\$	US\$	US\$
Gross assets	104 205 4/5	0.075.020	252.050	1.0(0.000	10 401 (01	1 010 015	100 (00 007
Balance at April 1, 2022	104,387,465	2,277,839	352,859	1,969,928	18,481,621	1,219,315	128,689,027
Low assets	(61,933,112)	(2,277,839)	(352,859)	(1,969,928)	(18,481,621)	(1,219,315)	(86,234,674)
Balance at March 31, 2023	42,454,353						42,454,353
Accumulated depreciation							
Balance at April 1, 2022	(104,387,465)	(2,277,839)	(352,859)	(1,969,928)	(18,481,621)	(1,219,315)	(128,689,027)
Low assets	61,933,112	2,277,839	352,859	1,969,928	18,481,621	1,219,315	86,234,674
Balance at March 31, 2023	(42,454,353)					-	(42,454,353)
Balance at March 31, 2023, net	-						
March 31, 2022	Mining projects	Plant and equipment	Vehicles	Other assets	Leased assets	Construction in progress	Total
March 31, 2022	Mining projects US\$	Plant and equipment US\$	Vehicles US\$	Other assets US\$	Leased assets US\$		Total US\$
March 31, 2022 Gross assets	01 5	1 1				progress	
Gross assets Balance at April 1, 2021	01 5	1 1				progress	
Gross assets	US\$	US\$	US\$	US\$	US\$	progress US\$	US\$
Gross assets Balance at April 1, 2021	US\$	US\$	US\$	US\$	US\$	progress US\$	US\$
Gross assets Balance at April 1, 2021 Reclasification and other	US\$ 104,387,465	US\$ 2,277,839	US\$ 352,859	US\$ 1,969,928 -	US\$ 18,481,621 	progress US\$ 1,219,315	US\$ 128,689,027 -
Gross assets Balance at April 1, 2021 Reclasification and other Balance at March 31, 2022 Accumulated depreciation Balance at April 1, 2021	US\$ 104,387,465 	US\$ 2,277,839 	US\$ 352,859 - 352,859	US\$ 1,969,928 - 1,969,928	US\$ 18,481,621 - 18,481,621	progress US\$ 1,219,315 - 1,219,315	US\$ 128,689,027 - 128,689,027

8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

At March 31, 2023 and 2022, the detail of intangible assets is as follows:

	2023 US\$	2022 US\$
Mining concessions	-	-
Port concession	-	-
Others		
Total		-

During 2021, the Company has decided to write off intangible assets (see note 5).

9. OTHER NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

The detail of other non-financial assets, non-current as of March 31, 2023 and 2022, is as follows:

	2023 US\$	2022 US\$
Investements in other companies	<u> </u>	25,400
Total	<u> </u>	25,400

10. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

As at March 31 2022, it relates to deposit with bank as margin money for security against guarantees. Use of such balance was restricted.

11. NON-CONTROLLING INTERES

The movements of non-controlling interest at March 31, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Subsidiary	Non- controlling	Subsidiary deficit	Non- controlling deficit share	Loss for the year	Non- controlling loss share
	share	US\$	US\$	US\$	US\$
March 31, 2023:					
Inversiones Eroush	5.10%	(185,421,290)	(9,456,486)	(27,075,272)	(1,380,839)
Santa Fe Mining	30%	-	-	(888,090)	(266,427)
Santa Fe Puerto	0.10%		-	(37)	-
Total		(185,421,290)	(9,456,486)	(27,963,399)	(1,647,266)
March 31, 2022:					
Inversiones Eroush	5.10%	(158,346,024)	(8,075,637)	(6,022,071)	(307,126)
Santa Fe Mining	30%	(68,147,552)	(20,444,266)	(2,416,305)	(724,891)
Santa Fe Puerto	0.10%	(1,668,717)	(1,669)	72,569	73
Total		(228,162,293)	(28,521,572)	(8,365,807)	(1,031,944)

12. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The detail of trade and other payables as at March 31, 2023 and 2022 is as follows:

	2023 US\$	2022 US\$
Suppliers	13,458	12,343
Total	13,458	12,343

13. PROVISIONS

The detail of provisions at March 31, 2023 and 2022, is as follows:

	Curr	rent	Non-Current		
	2023	2022	2023	2022	
	US\$	US\$	US\$	US\$	
Withholdings	-	512	-	-	
Mine closure provision				1,440,215	
Total		512		1,440,215	

14. PAID-IN CAPITAL

a. Shareholders - The Company's shareholders as at March 31, 2023 and 2022 is as follows:

	Number of
Shareholder	shares
JSW Steel (Netherlands) B.V.	100

The Company's issued and fully paid up capital amounts to US\$100,000 and consists of 100 ordinary shares of a face value of US\$1,000 each.

15. BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED COMPANIES

- a. Current balances There are no current balances due to and from related parties.
- **b.** Non-current balances The detail of non-current balances due to or from related parties is as follows:- The detail of non-current balances due from related parties are as follows:

		Recei	vable	Payable	
Company	Relationship	2023	2022	2023	2022
		US\$	US\$	US\$	US\$
JSW Steel (Netherlands) B.V. (1)	Parent company	2,018,898	1,950,402	-	-
JSW Steel Limited (2)	Ultimate parent		-	180,902,226	174,061,691
Total		2,018,898	1,950,402	180,902,226	174,061,691

(1) This loan corresponds to balance with the Shareholder JSW Steel (Netherland) B.V. which have interest rate of 7.4%.

(2) This balance is composed of loans as follows:

Fiscal Year	Capital US\$
2009	11,610,000
2010	-
2011	54,505,000
2012	13,450,000
2013	-
2014	-
2015	6,237,000
2016	8,598,000
2017	7,325,000
2018	5,529,000
2019	2,677,300
2020	1,249,000
2021	563,000
2022	234,500
2023	175,200
Interest Payable	68,749,226
Subtotal	180,902,226

The loans have a rate of 7.00 % to 7.20%.

c. Transactions - The main transactions with related parties are as follows:

Company	Relationship	Nature of the transaction	2023 US\$	2022 US\$
JSW Steel (Netherlands) B.V.	Parent company	Interest gained	68,496	60,129
JSW Steel Limited	Ultimate parent	Loan received	175,200	234,500
		Interes accrued	7,155,295	6,019,617

16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a) Financial assets

The carrying values and fair values of financial assets are as follows:

	202	23	2022		
	Estimated fair value US\$	Carrying value US\$	Estimated fair value US\$	Carrying value US\$	
Other financial assets and other Accounts receivable from related companies	2,018,898	-	1,069,774 1,950,402	1,069,774 1,950,402	
Total financial assets	2,018,898		3,020,176	3,020,176	

There is no significant credit risk exposure in accounts receivable, because credit risk is managed by dealing only through irrevocable letters of credit, issued by reputed banks. Credit evaluation of customers is carried out on regular basis. No provisions have been made for uncollectible accounts at the date of the financial statements.

The fair value of trade debtors and other accounts receivable at March 31, 2023 and 2022 are not materially different to the carrying value due to the short-term nature of such accounts.

The exposure of the Company's financial assets to interest rate and currency risks are the follows:

	March 31, 2023			March 31, 2022				
		Variable	Fixed	Interest		Variable	Fixed	Interest
	Total	rate	rate	free	Total	rate	rate	free
	US\$	US\$	US\$	US\$	US\$	US\$	US\$	US\$
US dollar	2,018,898	2,018,898	-	-	1,950,402	1,950,402	-	-
Chilean pesos	<u> </u>	-			1,069,774	1,069,774		
Total financial assets	2,018,898	2,018,898			3,020,176	3,020,176		

b) Financial liabilities

The carrying values and fair values of financial liabilities are as follows:

	20	23	2022		
	Estimated	Carrying	Estimated	Carrying	
	fair value	value	fair value	value	
	US\$	US\$	US\$	US\$	
Trade and other payables	13,458	13,458	12,343	12,343	
Accounts payable to related company	180,902,226	180,902,226	174,061,691	174,061,691	
Total financial liabilities	180,915,684	180,915,684	174,074,034	174,074,034	

The exposure of the Company's financial liabilities to interest rate and currency risks are the follows:

	March 31, 2023		March 31, 2022			
	Total	Variable rate	Interest free	Total	Variable rate	Interest free
	US\$	US\$	US\$	US\$	US\$	US\$
US dollar	180,902,226	180,902,226	-	174,061,691	173,571,731	489,960
Chilean pesos	13,458	13,458		12,343	<u> </u>	12,343
Total financial liabilities	180,915,684	180,915,684		174,074,034	173,571,731	502,303

c) Exposure to and management of financial risks

Significant financial risks that the Company is exposed to are liquidity risk, foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and commodity price risk.

• Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk refers to the risk that the Company always has adequate funds to meet its payment obligations. This is achieved by having the funds in cash and current account bank balances. The Company manages liquidity by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and financial support from its shareholder.

• Exchange rate risk and interest rate risk

The Company's operating currency is US dollars and the subsidiaries also maintain their accounts in US dollars.

17. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

At March 31, 2023 and 2022, the detail of cash and cash equivalents are as follows:

	2023 US\$	2022 US\$
Cash an banks	43,112	52,485

According to Panamanian regulations, companies that have transactions conducted from an office in Panama, but perfected, consummated or having effect abroad are tax exempted.

18. INCOME AND DEFERRED TAX

a) Income tax recognized in income for the year

At March 31, 2023 and 2022, the detail of the income tax expense, is as follows:

	2023	2022
	US\$	US\$
Loss from continuing operations	(27,149,336)	(6,635,496)
Income tax calculated at a legal rate (27%)	7,330,321	1,791,583
Unrecognised deferred tax asset	(7,330,321)	(1,791,583)
Reversal of deferred tax liability	0	72,598
Income tax benefit	0	72,598

b) Deferred from continuing operations

At March 31, 2023 and 2022, the details of deferred taxes are as follows:

	2023 US\$	2022 US\$
Deferred tax assets		
Accumulated tax losses	7,330,321	1,771,982
Mine closure provision	-	345,600
Others		23,413
Total	7,330,321	2,140,995
Deferred tax liabilities		
Property, plant and equipment and unprovisioned tax loss		(2,140,995)
Total	-	(2,140,995)
Reversal of deferred tax liability	(7,330,321)	-
Total net deferred tax assets/ (liabilities)		-

19. COMMITENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company has not made any commitments towards capital expenses as at March 31, 2023.

20. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Company's management is not aware of any events subsequent to March 31, 2023 that could materially affect them.

* * * * * * * *